FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. The Circuit Court of Harrison County erred when it denied the motion of the Defendant to suppress all information taken from the Defendant's cellular telephone on the grounds that said cellular telephone was seized from the Petitioner without the benefit of a search warrant, lawful arrest or any other legal justification.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In the January, 2018 term of Court, the Harrison County, West Virginia Grand Jury indicted the Petitioner, Joshua S. Deem, and charged him with one count of soliciting a minor via computer, in violation of W.Va. Code 61-3C-14b [App 1]. After receipt of discovery, the Petitioner filed a motion to suppress all information taken from the Defendant's cellular telephone on the grounds that said cellular telephone was seized from the Defendant without justification under law. [App 2]. A hearing was held on said motion before the Honorable Thomas A. Bedell on March 22, 2018. [App 62 - 119]. After said hearing, the Court denied the Defendant's motion to suppress [App 49 - 51]. The Petitioner went to trial and was convicted of soliciting a minor via computer as charged in the indictment. It is from said conviction that he files this appeal.

III. STATEMENT OF ARGUMENT

This case involves the justification of seizing personal property from the possession of an individual without the benefit of a search warrant. Because such seizures are considered to be "per se unreasonable", such action must fall within a recognized exception to

the search warrant requirement. See *State v. Moore*, 272 S.E. 2d 804 (1980) and *State v. Farley*, 167 W.Va. 620, 208 S.E. 2d 234 (1981).

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioners seek oral argument to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure on the grounds that the Circuit Court committed an unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled and this appeal presents a case involving a narrow issue of law. The Petitioner believes this case is appropriate for a memorandum decision.

V. AGRUMENT

The facts relating to the issue in this case are undisputed. Lt. Gary Weaver works for the Bridgeport Police Department on the task force that investigates the exploitation of young children [App. 67, 69]. The beginning his investigation of the Defendant was prompted by an ad he saw on Craigslist entitled "Speed for you." In December, 2016, as part of his training and duties with the task force, he recognized this as a suspicious ad and responded pretending to be a fifteen year old female, to-wit: "YO 15 F BPort." "What's Up" [App. 68]. The person who presumably placed the ad, began e-mailing with Lt. Weaver (posing as the fifteen year old). The e-mails and later texts became inappropriate, including requests for nude photographs from Lt. Weaver's character. [App. 70 -71].

Eventually, Lt. Weaver secured an administrative subpoena for Craigslist and learned that the ad was posted using an e-mail account under the name <u>joshdeem1990@gmail.com</u>. The phone number associated with the ad was 304-917-1527. [App. 73]. Through further police work, the telephone number and e-mail address was traced to the Defendant, Joshua S. Deem.

[App. 75].

On February 2, 2017, Lt. Weaver, accompanied by Parkersburg Police Officer Travis Wolfe and Trooper Jennifer DeMeyer went to Mr. Deem's home located at 39 Baltimore Street, Parkersburg, West Virginia. Mr. Deem's father answered the door and after learning the police officers wanted to speak with the Petitioner, went to get him from his room. Mr. Deem came out on the porch to greet the officers and invited them inside [App. 76 - 77]. Once inside the officers began to question the Petitioner about the ad and subsequent communications with Lt. Weaver. Mr. Deem admitted he placed the ad but was reluctant to answer other questions. [App. 78]. While in the Deem home, Officer Wolfe secretly dialed the phone number given to Lt. Weaver by Craigslist. The mobile telephone in Mr. Deem's pocket began to ring. [App. 80]. The petitioner pulled the telephone out of his pocket and hit the ignore button [App. 85]. He put the telephone back into his pocket. Lt. Weaver asked the Petitioner to give him the phone, but Mr. Deem refused. Lt. Weaver continued to demand the phone and Mr. Deem continued to refuse. Finally, Lt. Weaver and Officer Wolfe forcibly took the telephone from Mr. Deem. After securing the telephone, they left the residence and eventually secured search warrants to recover the information on Mr. Deem's telephone [App. 8 - 17]. The information found was significantly incriminating, and led to the Defendant's conviction.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects citizens against unreasonable search and seizures. Although warrantless searches and seizures are considered to be "per se unreasonable," there are a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions to the search warrant requirement. *Katz v. United States*, 389 US. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed. 2d 576 (1967). The exceptions are jealously and carefully drawn, and there must be a showing by those who see exemption that the exigencies of the situation made that course imperative. *State*

v. Moore, _____, 273 S.E. 2d 804 (1980). The underlying command of each exception is reasonableness. Kentucky v. King, _____ U.S. ____ 131 S. Ct. 1849, 179 L.Ed. 2d 865 (2011). When the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that a warrantless search or seizure is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, police officers are entitled to bypass the warrant requirement. King, supra. The types of exigent circumstances that may justify a warrantless seizure include imminent destruction of evidence. United States v. Grissett, 925 F.2d 776 (4th cir. 1991).

In West Virginia a warrantless seizure of property in plain view is constitutionally permissible provide three requirements are met: '(1) the police must observe the evidence in plain sight without benefit of a search (without invading one's reasonable expectation of privacy), (2) the police must have a legal right to be where they are when they make the plain sight observation and, (3) the police must have probable cause to believe the evidence seen constitutes contraband or fruits, instrumentalities or evidence of crime.' "Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Moore W.Va., 272 S.E. 2d 804 (1980), quoting, syl. Pt. 3, in part, State v. Stone, W.Va. 268 S.E.2d 445 (1974). The burden rests on the State to show by a preponderance of evidence that the warrantless search falls within an authorized exception." Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Moore, W.Va. 272 S.E.2d 804 (1980).

In the case before the Court, although the police officers had justification to be in Mr. Deem's home, they had no authority to seize his cellular telephone without the benefit of a valid search warrant. There was no indication that any exigent circumstances existed eg., destruction of evidence, that would be an exception to the search warrant requirement.

In Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552, 185 L.Ed.2d 696, 81 USLW 4250 (2013). The United States Supreme Court rejected the argument that blood could be taken from an

individual to determine his blood/alcohol level without a search warrant on the grounds that during the time it took to get a search warrant the level of blood alcohol could dissipate. In rejecting the State's argument the Court stated:

When officers in drunk-driving investigations can reasonably obtain a warrant before having a blood sample drawn without significantly undermining the efficacy of the search, the Fourth Amendment mandates that they do so. See *McDonald v. United States*, 335 U.S. 451, 456, 69 S.Ct. 191, 93 L.Ed. 153.

The same logic applies in the case at bar. There is no evidence that any information on the Petitioner's phone was or could have been destroyed prior to obtaining a search warrant. Therefore, the denial of the Petitioner's motion to suppress was in error and any evidence secured from said telephone should have been suppressed.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Appellant respectfully demands that his conviction by the Circuit Court of Harrison County for soliciting a minor via computer be overturned and that his sentence be vacated.