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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's only assignment of error asserts that the Circuit Court erred in denying his motion to suppress based on the warrantless seizure of his cell phone. While the State concedes that the seizure of his cell phone was effected without a warrant, it was reasonable. The seizure was reasonable both because the phone was in plain view of the officers while they had probable cause to believe it contained evidence of a crime, and because the exigencies of the situation justified the seizure of the phone to prevent the destruction of any evidence it contained.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Pursuant to West Virginia Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. This case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. Standard of Review

On appeal, a circuit court's factual findings regarding a motion to suppress are reviewed for "clear error," and all facts are construed in the light most favorable to the State. Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996) (further explaining that, "[b]ecause of the highly fact-specific nature of a motion to suppress, particular deference is given to the findings of the circuit court because it had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and to hear testimony on

the issues."). The determination of whether a search or seizure was constitutional is a question of law, and is reviewed *de novo*. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2, 468 S.E.2d at 722. "Thus, a circuit court's denial of a motion to suppress evidence will be affirmed unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence, based on an erroneous interpretation of the law, or, based on the entire record, it is clear that a mistake has been made." *Id.*

B. The Circuit Court Did Not Err In Denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress the Evidence Seized from Petitioner's Cellular Phone.

Petitioner's only assignment of error is that the Circuit Court committed reversible error in denying his motion to suppress the evidence gleaned from his cell phone. (Pet'r's Br. at 4.)

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution protect the public from unreasonable searches and seizures by government officials. See, e.g., Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643, 648 (1961); Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. 578, 195 S.E.2d 631 (1973). These constitutional provisions generally require a government actor obtain a warrant issued upon probable cause before conducting a search. U.S. Const. Amend. IV; W. Va. Const. art. III, § 6; see also Duvernoy, 156 W. Va. at Syl. Pt. 5, 195 S.E.2d at 632. Typically, evidence seized without a warrant is subject to the exclusionary rule. See Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Davis, 170 W. Va. 376, 294 S.E.2d 179, 180 (1982) ("The general rule is that where there is an illegal seizure of property, such property cannot be introduced into evidence, and testimony may not be given in regard to the facts surrounding the seizure of the property.")

There are, however, a number of judicially-created exceptions to this warrant requirement. Syl. Pt. 3, *Ullom v. Miller*, 227 W. Va. 1, 705 S.E.2d 111, 114 (2010) (noting that warrantless

¹ In fact, with limited exception, "[t]his Court has traditionally construed Article III, Section 6 in harmony with the Fourth Amendment." *Duvernoy*, 156 W. Va. at 582, 195 S.E.2d at 634.

searches are *per se* unreasonable subject to "a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions"); *accord Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 460 (2011) ("[T]he warrant requirement is subject to certain reasonable exceptions."). These exceptions include "searches incident to a valid arrest, seizures of items in plain view, searches and seizures justified by exigent circumstances, consensual searches, and searches in which the special needs of law enforcement make the probable cause and warrant requirements impracticable." *State v. Kimble*, 233 W. Va. 428, 433, 759 S.E.2d 171, 176 (2014) (quoting *State v. Farley*, 230 W. Va. 193, 197, 737 S.E.2d 90, 94 (2012)).

The State acknowledges in this case that Lt. Weaver taking Petitioner's phone constitutes a warrantless seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes. However, the evidence derived from the subsequent warrant-backed search of Petitioner's phone need not be suppressed, as the seizure fell within two exceptions to the warrant requirement: (1) the plain view doctrine and (2) the exigent circumstances doctrine.

1. The Seizure of Petitioner's Phone Was Reasonable Under the Plain View Doctrine.

The Circuit Court relied primarily on the plain view doctrine in denying Petitioner's motion to suppress. As an initial matter, Petitioner has failed to adequately brief the issue of whether the Circuit Court erred in applying the plain view doctrine. While Petitioner cites caselaw related to the doctrine, he offers no argument related its application, focusing instead on his argument that the seizure was not justified under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. (Pet'r's Br. at 7-8.) Due to Petitioner's failure to address this issue, this Court should decline to construe his brief to contest the application of the plain view doctrine. *See State v. Allen*, 208 W. Va. 144, 162, 539 S.E.2d 87, 105 (1999) ("In the absence of supporting authority, we decline further to review [these] alleged error[s] because [they] have not been adequately briefed."); *State*,

Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. Robert Morris N., 195 W. Va. 759, 765, 466 S.E.2d 827, 833 (1995) (citations and quotations omitted) ("A skeletal 'argument,' really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim.").

However, even to the extent this Court considers this issue, it is evident that the Circuit Court did not err in finding that the seizure was reasonable under the plain view doctrine. The United States Supreme Court has explained that "[i]t is well established that under certain circumstances the police may seize evidence in plain view without a warrant." *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 465 (1971). This Court set out the requirements of the plain view exception in *State v. Julius*:

The essential predicates of a plain view warrantless seizure are (1) that the officer did not violate the Fourth Amendment in arriving at the place from which the incriminating evidence could be viewed; (2) that the item was in plain view and its incriminating character was also immediately apparent; and (3) that not only was the officer lawfully located in a place from which the object could be plainly seen, but the officer also had a lawful right of access to the object itself.

Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Julius, 185 W. Va. 422, 408 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1991); see Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 137 (1990) (establishing the requirements this Court adopted in Julius). In the hearing below, the Circuit Court relied on State v. Farley, an older case which set out a slightly different formulation of the plain view doctrine. (App. at 101-102.) For the plain view doctrine to be satisfied, Farley requires:

(1) the police must observe the evidence in plain sight without benefit of a search (without invading one's reasonable expectation of privacy), (2) the police must have a legal right to be where they are when they make the plain sight observation and, (3) the police must have probable cause to believe that the evidence seen constitutes contraband or fruits, instrumentalities or evidence of crime.

Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Farley*, 167 W. Va. 620, 280 S.E.2d 234, 235 (1981) (citations and quotations omitted). However, because of the significant overlap between these two tests, and because the record clearly demonstrates that the test set out in *Julius* is satisfied, remand is unnecessary. *See*

Syl. Pt. 3, *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466, 467 (1965) ("This Court may, on appeal, affirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment.").

The first prong of the *Julius* test, that the officers did not violate the Fourth Amendment in arriving at the place from which they viewed Petitioner's cell phone, is easily satisfied. As noted above, Petitioner invited the officers to come into his home to speak to him. (App. at 78.) Petitioner conceded this point below, (App. at 96) and does so again before this Court, noting "the police officers had justification to be in Mr. Deem's home." (Pet'r's Br. at 7.)

The second *Julius* prong is also satisfied. The first requirement of this prong — that the cell phone was in plain view — is clearly established by the record. For an object to be in "plain view," it must be "obvious to the senses." *United States v. Norman*, 701 F.2d 295, 297 (4th Cir. 1983); *see also* 1 Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook on West Virginia Criminal Procedure 304–05 (2d ed. 1993). Lt. Weaver testified that during the questioning, he had noticed that Petitioner had a phone with him, and that he had put it in his pocket. (App. at 80.) When Detective Wolfe called the number associated with the Craigslist ad, Petitioner's phone started ringing, and he pulled it out of his pocket, where Lt. Weaver could clearly see it. (App. at 81.) When Lt. Weaver asked Petitioner for the phone and Petitioner refused to turn it over, he pulled it out again and started interacting with it with his hand. (App. at 81.) Additionally, Petitioner conceded below that the phone was in plain view, (App. at 96) and does not contest as much before this Court. Accordingly, because Lt. Weaver and the other officers clearly saw Petitioner's cell phone, it was in plain view.

The second requirement of the second prong of *Julius* — that the incriminating character of the phone was immediately apparent — is also satisfied. To meet this requirement, the officers

must have had probable cause to believe that Petitioner's phone contained evidence of a crime. See State v. Lacy, 196 W. Va. 104, 118 n.22, 468 S.E.2d 719, 733 n.22 (1996) ("The issue here is whether the incriminating nature of the weapon was 'immediately apparent.' The officers must have probable cause to believe that the item seized is contraband."); United States v. Waldrop, 404 F.3d 365, 369 (5th Cir. 2005) (citations and quotations omitted) ("The incriminating nature of an item is immediately apparent if the officers have probable cause to believe that the item is either evidence of a crime or contraband."). This requirement has effectively replaced the third prong of the test used in Farley.

In this instance, Lt. Weaver and the other officers had probable cause to believe Petitioner's cell phone contained evidence of the crime of attempted solicitation of a minor. In response to a subpoena, Craigslist had informed Lt. Weaver that the number 304-917-1527 was associated with the ad that gave rise to the investigation. (App. at 73.) Lt. Weaver's undercover identity also received text messages from this number, which continued a conversation in which the sender had requested explicit photographs and expressed a desire to have sexual intercourse. (App. at 70-75.) In coordinating with another government agency, Lt. Weaver found that this number was associated with Petitioner. (App. at 75.) Then, while questioning Petitioner, the officers confirmed that this was in fact Petitioner's cell phone number by calling it while in the room with him. (App. at 80-81.) This occurred just after he had told the officers that this was an old number no longer associated with him. (App. at 78.) These facts, taken together, were more than sufficient to provide Lt. Weaver, Detective Wolfe, and Trooper DeMeyer with probable cause to believe Petitioner's phone contained evidence of a crime. Accordingly, the second prong of *Julius* was satisfied.

Finally, the officers had a lawful right of access to take Petitioner's phone, satisfying the third *Julius* prong. Though this Court has not discussed this prong in detail, federal courts have explained that this prong concerns those scenarios where a police officer sees evidence or contraband in plain view but has no lawful right to enter the property where the item is located. *See United States v. Davis*, 690 F.3d 226, 234 (4th Cir. 2012) (citing *Horton*, 496 U.S. at 128) ("[T]he lawful access requirement is intended to clarify that police may not enter a premises to make a warrantless seizure, even if they could otherwise see (from a lawful vantage point) that there was contraband in plain sight."); *Boone v. Spurgess*, 385 F.3d 923, 928 (6th Cir. 2004) (explaining that the lawful right of access prong refers to "where [an officer] must be to retrieve the item"). In this case, the officers had lawful access to the phone because they had been invited into the house, the location where the seizure was effected.

Because all three prongs of *Julius*'s test are satisfied, Lt. Weaver and the other officers were justified in seizing Petitioner's cell phone without a warrant under the plain view exception to the warrant requirement.² Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress.

2. The Seizure of Petitioner's Phone Was Reasonable Under the Exigent Circumstances Doctrine.

"When 'the exigencies of the situation make the needs of law enforcement so compelling that [a] warrantless search [or seizure] is objectively reasonable under the Fourth Amendment,' police officers are entitled to bypass the warrant requirement." *United States v. Brown*, 701 F.3d 120, 126 (4th Cir. 2012) (quoting *King*, 563 U.S. at 460). Preventing the destruction of evidence or contraband is one of the primary examples of exigent circumstances justifying a warrantless

² The State notes that the facts would also satisfy the older version of the plain view test relied on by the Circuit Court and cited in Petitioner's brief.

search or seizure. See King, 563 U.S. at 460 (quoting Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006)) ("The need 'to prevent the imminent destruction of evidence' has long been recognized as a sufficient justification for a warrantless search."). This Court has also recognized the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. See State v. Dorsey, 234 W. Va. 15, 26, 762 S.E.2d 584, 595 (2014) (citation and quotation omitted) ("We have explained that the circumstances . . . justify warrantless searches . . . where there is a risk of a criminal suspect's escaping or fear of destruction of evidence."); State v. Buzzard, 194 W. Va. 544, 549 n.11, 461 S.E.2d 50, 55 n.11 (1995) (recognizing that exigent circumstances exist when "quick action is necessary to prevent the destruction of potential evidence").

This Court has explained that "[t]he test for the existence of exigent circumstances is whether the facts would lead a reasonable, experienced police officer to believe the evidence might be destroyed or removed before a warrant could be secured." *State v. Lacy*, 196 W. Va. 104, 112 n.7, 468 S.E.2d 719, 727 n.7 (1996). Federal Courts have explained the test in materially similar terms. *See, e.g., United States v. Rodgers*, 924 F.2d 219, 222 (11th Cir. 1991) (citations and quotations omitted) ("[T]he appropriate inquiry is whether the facts . . . would lead a reasonable, experienced agent to believe that evidence might be destroyed [or removed] before a warrant could

³ Occasionally when stating this test, this Court has also included language suggesting that police must be "motivated by a need to render aid or assistance" and believe objectively that an emergency exists for the exception to apply. See, e.g., State v. Kendall, 219 W. Va. 686, 692, 639 S.E.2d 778, 784 (2006); Lacy, 196 W. Va. at 112 n.7, 468 S.E.2d at 727 n.7. This language stems from State v. Cecil, 173 W. Va. 27, 311 S.E.2d 144 (1983). A review of Cecil clarifies that this language refers to the "emergency" exception to the warrant requirement, in which police officers must be motivated by a need to render aid rather than by law enforcement purposes. State v. Cecil, 173 W. Va. 27, 32 n.10, 311 S.E.2d 144, 150 n.10 (1983) ("[T]o justify the application of the emergency doctrine . . . the searching officer must actually be motivated by a perceived need to render aid or assistance . . . [and] a reasonable person under the circumstances must have thought that an emergency existed.") This Court has since made clear that the emergency exception to the warrant requirement is distinct from circumstances in which an officer fears imminent destruction of evidence. See Ullom v. Miller, 227 W. Va. 1, 12 n.10, 705 S.E.2d 111, 122 n.10 (2010) (explaining the differences between the emergency exception, the "community caretaker" exception, and exigent circumstances).

be secured."); *United States v. Grissett*, 925 F.2d 776, 778 (4th Cir. 1991) ("The police need not... produce concrete proof that the occupants of the room were on the verge of destroying evidence; rather, the proper inquiry focuses on what an objective officer could reasonably believe.").

Lt. Weaver testified at the pretrial hearing that, when in response to a request to turn the phone over, Petitioner began interacting with it, Lt. Weaver believed he may have been attempting to destroy evidence. (App. at 81-82.) He explained that, "[b]ased on training[,] experience[,] and having it happen before, things can easily be deleted or the phones can easily be manipulated to delete the information." (App. at 81-82.) In response to Petitioner's arguments, the Circuit Court also observed that "[i]n his experience, [Lt. Weaver] was worried about the deletion of [evidence]." (App. at 100.) Due to the nature of cell phones, as well as the fact that Petitioner started interacting with his phone, Lt. Weaver's belief that Petitioner might destroy or remove evidence of criminal activity from his phone before the officers could secure a warrant was objectively reasonable.

Lt. Weaver's belief that evidence on Petitioner's cell phone could be destroyed was reasonable based in part on the nature of cell phones and digital information. Courts across the country have recognized the danger of destruction or concealment of evidence believed to be on a cellular phone or other portable electronic device. *See, e.g., Brown*, 701 F.3d at 127 ("[I]t was entirely reasonable for the officers to seize Brown's laptop—as they did—to prevent either it or its contents from being damaged or destroyed."); *United States v. Bradley*, 488 F. App'x 99, 103 (6th Cir. 2012) ("[I]t is objectively reasonable to seize a [computer] an officer has probable cause to believe contains evidence of a crime, rather than leave it unguarded in the hands of a suspect who knows that it will be searched."); *United States v. Blood*, 429 F. App'x 670, 671 (9th Cir. 2011) (citation and quotation omitted) ("The fragile and easily destructible nature of the digital evidence at issue raises undeniable concerns regarding loss or possible destruction of contraband

by the owner."); *United States v. Mitchell*, 565 F.3d 1347, 1350 (11th Cir. 2009) (noting that the "seizure of the entire computer to ensure that the hard drive was not tampered with before a warrant was obtained" was reasonable). Indeed, the United States Supreme Court recognized in a similar scenario that seizure of cell phones to prevent destruction of evidence pending the subsequent procurement of a search warrant is appropriate. *See Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2486 (2014) (noting the petitioners' "sensible concession" "that officers could have seized and secured their cell phones to prevent destruction of evidence while seeking a warrant"); *United States v. Henry*, 827 F.3d 16, 28 (1st Cir. 2016) (citing *Riley*, 134 S. Ct at 2486-87) ("It thus appears that the officers did exactly what the Supreme Court suggested they do: seize the phones to prevent destruction of evidence but obtain a warrant before searching the phones.").

Lt. Weaver's belief that potential evidence on Petitioner's phone was at risk was also reasonable given Petitioner's actions. Lt. Weaver testified that, in response to his request for Petitioner's phone, Petitioner began interacting with the phone. (App. at 81-82.) Given the reasonability of a belief that digital information on a phone can be easily destroyed, the fact that Petitioner began interacting with his phone—directly after Lt. Weaver had asserted his belief that the phone contained evidence of a crime—further justified Lt. Weaver's belief that a seizure under the circumstances was reasonable.

Petitioner argues that there were no exigent circumstances, in that there was "no evidence that any information on the Petitioner's phone was or could have been destroyed prior to obtaining a search warrant." (Pet'r's Br. at 8.) Petitioner errs in his belief that the State must demonstrate that Petitioner was actually attempting to destroy evidence; indeed, Lt. Weaver need only have had a reasonable belief the evidence might be destroyed or removed. *See United States v. Reed*,

935 F.2d 641, 643 (4th Cir. 1991) ("[P]olice need not produce concrete proof that the evidence was on the verge of destruction.").

Petitioner also cites to a United States Supreme Court case in which he claims the Court "rejected the argument that blood could be taken from an individual to determine his blood/alcohol level without a search warrant on the grounds that during the time it took to get a search warrant the level of blood alcohol could dissipate." (Pet'r's Br. at 7-8 (citing Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 152 (2013)). This statement misrepresents the case cited; in McNeely, the Court rejected Missouri's request to establish a per se rule that the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement always applied in the context of taking blood from a DUI suspect. See Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 153 (2013). While the Court declined to impose such a per se rule, it specifically recognized that the exigent circumstances doctrine could apply based on specific facts. See id. ("We do not doubt that some circumstances will make obtaining a warrant impractical such that the dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream will support an exigency justifying a properly conducted warrantless blood test."). As an initial matter, McNeely dealt with a different type of evidence not at issue in this case; additionally, though electronic devices like phones will in many circumstances justify warrantless seizure based upon their nature, State does not seek a per se rule that the exigent circumstances doctrine always applies in such cases. Accordingly, Petitioner's reliance on *McNeely* is misplaced.

Because Lt. Weaver's belief that evidence on Petitioner's phone might be destroyed or deleted before a search warrant could be secured was reasonable, the exigencies of the circumstances made the warrantless seizure of the phone reasonable. Therefore, the Circuit Court did not err in denying Petitioner's Motion to Suppress.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's August 9, 2018 Sentencing Order.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, By Counsel.

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Caleb A. Ellis [WVSB No. 13337]

Assistant Attorney General

Cald a Ellis

Office of the Attorney General

Appellate Division

812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor

Charleston, WV 25301

Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

Email: Caleb.A.Ellis@wvago.gov

Counsel for Respondent